IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BOUR ENTERPRISES, LLC., A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; MULUGETA BOUR, AN INDIVIDUAL; HILENA MENGESHA, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Appellants,

VS.

4520 ARVILLE, A CALIFORNIA GENERAL PARTNERSHIP; MCKINLEY MANOR, AN IDAHO GENERAL PARTNERSHIP,

Respondents.

BOUR ENTERPRISES, LLC., A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; MULUGETA BOUR, AN INDIVIDUAL; HILENA MENGESHA, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Appellants.

VS.

4520 ARVILLE, A CALIFORNIA GENERAL PARTNERSHIP; MCKINLEY MANOR, AN IDAHO GENERAL PARTNERSHIP,

Respondents.

Supreme Court Case No.: 82699

District Court Case No**EleatroNically-Filed**794864-C
Oct 05 2021 03:04 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The district court erred in holding that the Appellants had failed to raise an issue in their affirmative defenses.
- 2. The district court erred in adjudicating the Respondent's motion for entry of judgment without allowing the Appellants to present its testimony and evidence of the affirmative defenses.
- 3. The district court erred in finding that the warranty of habitability does not apply in the setting of a commercial lease.

- 4. The district court erred by ruling that even if Nevada did recognize a warranty of habitability, the warranty would have been waived in the application of the "as-is" clause within the lease.
 - 5. The district erred in holding that the constructive eviction did not occur.
- 6. The district court erred in awarding attorneys' fees and costs based upon the procedurally improper entry of the order granting summary judgment without allow Appellant to present its facts and evidence of the constructive eviction and/or in opposition to the constructive eviction claim.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The underlying matter was a matter asserting breach of a commercial lease.¹ The matter further included an answer and counterclaim asserting constructive eviction and a violation of the warranty of habitability.² The Appeal's underlying action was initiated by Appellants' Complaint asserting claims of (1) Breach of Lease; (2) Breach of Guaranties against Guarantors; (3) Breach of Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing; (4) Unjust Enrichment; and (5) Declaratory Relief; which was filed on May 15, 2019.³ On July 16, 2019, the Appellants filed an Answer and Counterclaim.⁴ The Answer asserted affirmative defenses for, among other

¹ See Appendix Vol. I, AI000001-AI000006.

 $^{^{2}}$ Id.

 $^{^3}$ Id.

⁴ See Appendix Vol. I, AI00007-AI000021.

stated defenses: Failure to State a Claim; Constructive Eviction; Unclean Hands; Actions Caused by the Respondents; Respondents Were in Breach of the Contract; Failure to Mitigate Damages; Failure of the Respondents to Perform Under the Contract; Lies and Deceit in Misrepresenting Facts to Induce the Appellants to Contract; Equitable Doctrines of Waiver, Release, Laches, Unclean Hands and Equitable Estoppel; Doctrines of Novation, Accord and Satisfaction and Recoupment.⁵ The Counterclaim asserted claims for (1) Constructive Eviction; (2) Breach of Contract; (3) Breach of the Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing; and (4) Declaratory Relief; which was filed on July 16, 2019.6 Respondent filed its motion to dismiss the Counterclaim on August 1, 2019, which asserted arguments to dismiss all of the Appellants' Counterclaims. The hearing took place on September 3, 2019, and an Order was entered denying Respondents' Motion on September 13, 2019.8 Respondents subsequently filed their Answer to the Counterclaims on October 14, 2019.9

Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on the counterclaim damages on November 10, 2020, and Appellants filed their Opposition on December

⁵Id.

⁶ Id.

⁷ See Appendix Vol. I, AI000022-JA000038.

⁸ See Appendix Vol. II, AI000166-AI000170.

⁹ See Appendix Vol. II, AI000171-AI000178.

17, 2020.¹⁰ Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on Respondent's breach of contract claims on December 1, 2020, and Appellants filed their Opposition on December 17, 2020.¹¹ A hearing was held by the district court on January 12, 2021, and the district court entered an Order on January 28, 2021, which granted Respondents' Motion.¹²

Respondents then filed their Motion for Entry of Judgment as to the surviving causes of action or affirmative defenses on February 10, 2021.¹³ Appellants filed the Opposition to the Motion for Entry of Judgment on February 24, 2021.¹⁴ A hearing was then held on March 2, 2021, and an Order was entered on March 9, 2021, wherein the district court stated: (1) Per the Court's Order entered January 28, 2021, wherein the district court granted the motion for summary judgment on the breach of contract claims, the district court concluded that "the undisputed material facts established that [Appellants] breached the leases and personal guaranties"; (2) the district court "rejected" Appellants' argument as to constructive eviction "as the implied warranty of habitability was deemed inapplicable to commercial leases and that even if such warranty is applicable, it was specifically waived by the

¹⁰ See Appendix Vol. VI, AI000244-AI000357; see also Appendix Vol. VI, AI000358-AI000370.

¹¹ See Appendix Vol. VI, AI000371-AI000426 and Appendix Vol. VII, AI000427-AI000482; see also Appendix Vol. VII, AI000483-AI000509.

¹² See Appendix Vol. VIII, AI000535-JA000547.

¹³ See Appendix Vol. VIII, AI000548-AI000569.

¹⁴ See Appendix Vol. VIII, AI000570-AI000616.

[Appellants] in the subject lease."; (3) the district court then determined that the only "remaining issue" is whether a trial was necessary to prove Respondents damages; (4) Appellants failed to raise arguments in opposition to the Motion for summary Judgment on breach of contract claims as to the appropriateness and reasonableness of the damages claimed; and (5) the arguments against the damages cannot be subsequently raised, and are therefore "waived and cannot be subsequently considered." ¹⁵

Appellants filed its Notice of Appeal on March 24, 2021, appealing the Order entered March 9, 2021, as well as the Judgment entered March 9, 2021.¹⁶

On March 29, 2021, Respondents filed a Motion for Fees and Costs and their Memorandum of Costs and Disbursements.¹⁷ Appellants filed their Opposition to the Motion for fees and costs on April 12, 2021, and their Motion to Retax Respondents' Costs on March 18, 2020.¹⁸ The hearing on Respondents' Motion for Fees and Costs and Appellants' Motion to Retax Costs was held on May 6, 2021, and the district court entered an Order granting in part Respondents' Motion and entered the order on May 27, 2021 (the "Fees and Costs Order").¹⁹

¹⁵ See Appendix Vol. IX, AI000635-AI000640.

¹⁶ See Appendix Vol. IX, AI000641-AI000648; see also Appendix Vol. IX, AI000635-AI000640 and Appendix Vol. IX, AI000641-AI000648

¹⁷ See Appendix Vol. X, AI000802-AI000916;

¹⁸ See Appendix Vol. VII, AI000700-AI000791.

¹⁹ See Appendix Vol. XI, AI000942-AI000950.

The Fees and Costs Order stated the contract provided for the basis for awarding the Respondents' attorneys' fees and costs. *Id.* First, because the Respondents had prevailed on the Summary Judgment and the Appellants were found to have breached the Lease and the Guarantees.²⁰ The Fees and Costs Order further stated Respondents were also entitled to recover their costs as the prevailing party pursuant to NRS 18.020.²¹ Respondents were ultimately awarded \$60,000.00 in fees and \$6,307.71.41 in costs.²²

Respondents then entered the First Supplemental Judgment on May 27, 2021.²³ Appellants timely filed their Notice of Appeal of the Fees and Costs Order on June 22, 2021.²⁴ The Appellants' Amended Notice of Appeal added the Orders and Supplemental Judgments entered May 27, 2021, and Notice of entry of the Order granting in part the Motion for fees entered May 27, 2021.²⁵

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about April 20, 2017, Appellants, BOUR ENTERPRISES, LLC., a Nevada limited liability company; MULUGETA BOUR, an individual (hereinafter

²⁰ Id. at AI000946.

²¹ Id. at AI000947.

²² Id. at AI000948.

²³ See Appendix Vol. XI, AI000932-AI000934.

²⁴ See Appendix Vol. XI, AI000992-JA000995.

²⁵ Id. at AI000993.

"Bour"); HILENA MENGESHA, an individual (hereinafter "Mengesha") (hereinafter collectively the "Appellants") entered into a commercial lease agreement ("CLA") with Respondents, 4520 ARVILLE, a California general partnership, and MCKINLEY MANOR, an Idaho general partnership (collectively the "Respondents") for the Appellants' lease of the real property identified as 4560 South Arville St., Units C-10, 23, 24 and 29, Las Vegas, NV 89103 (hereinafter the "Subject Property"). Thereafter, Bour and Mengesha executed guarantees for the CLA (hereinafter the "Guarantees"). 27

Appellants subsequently learned that there was a condition in Subject Property that created an inhabitable environment. Possible 28 Discovery revealed the existence of the presence of materials that could be harmful to individuals if inhaled by the occupants of the Subject Property (the "Expert Report"). These documents and the magnitude of the substance evidenced the fact that Respondents had to be fully aware of the existence of these substances. Appellants communicated the existence of the harmful substances to the Respondents.

The parties further communicated about issues with the parking that was available at the Subject Property.³⁰ Appellants were assured that they would be

²⁶ See Appendix Vol. I, AI000001-AI000006.

²⁷ *Id.*

²⁸ See *Appendix Vol. I, AI000007-AI000021*.

²⁹ See Appendix Vol. VIII, AI000570-AI000616.

³⁰ See Appendix Vol. I, AI00007-AI000021.

afforded the number of stalls necessary for them to operate their business.³¹ They were not and the Appellants complaint on a number of occasions.³²

The CLA entered into by the Appellants contained a provision captioned as an "as-is" clause, 33 which states as follows:

"Condition of Premises. Lessee hereby accepts the Premises in "as-is" condition with any additional alterations and improvements to be completed at Lessee's expense and in accordance with Section 7 of Lease."³⁴

The clause does not address whether the condition complained of was in existence at the time Appellants took possession of the Subject Property, and further only addresses if there are "alterations or improvements" necessary.³⁵ This clause does not address any hazardous condition that would be required to be abated.

The Appellants asserted that they were constructively evicted from the Subject Property by the Respondents' failures to abate the hazardous condition or nuisance.³⁶ Further, the Appellants asserted that the failure to abate the nuisance or hazardous condition would act as a breach of the warranty of habitability.³⁷

³¹ Id.

³² Id.

³³See Appendix Vol. I, AI000022-AI000038 at AI00032.

³⁴Id.

³⁵ Id.

³⁶ See Appendix Vol. I, AI000007-AI000021.

³⁷ Id.

The district court further ordered that the affirmative defenses of the Appellants some of which operate as offsets or reduction of the damages were "waived" when a party brings a motion for summary judgment asking for breach of contract adjudication and then attaches a spreadsheet of the purported damages. Appellants asserted that the calculation of the damages were correct given the CLA and the time left on those leases. However, Appellants argued that there were affirmative defenses including and not limited to failure to mitigate.

Proof of the Affirmative defenses is also present in the lack of responses to the interrogatories by the Plaintiffs.³⁸ Particularly, Plaintiffs responded as follows:

INTERROGATORY NO. 30: Please give step by step description of any actions taken to mitigate damages after Defendants informed you they would no longer be leasing the Subject Property.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 30: This Request exceeds the total interrogatories allowed by NRCP 33(a)(1), such that no response is necessary. *Kendall v. GES Exposition Servs., Inc., 174 F.R.D. 684, 686 (D. Nev. 1997).*³⁹

Further, the documents produced by the Plaintiffs and the Declaration of Bour attached to the Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment, substantiate the failure to mitigate.⁴⁰

³⁸ See Appendix Vol. VIII, AI000570-AI000616.

³⁹ Id.

⁴⁰ See Appendix Vol. VIII, AI000570-AI000616.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court erred in: (1.) holding that the Appellants had failed to raise an issue in their affirmative defenses; (2.) adjudicating the Respondent's motion for entry of judgment without allowing the Appellants to present its testimony and evidence of the affirmative defenses; (3.) finding that the warranty of habitability does not apply in the setting of a commercial lease; (4.) ruling that even if Nevada did recognize a warranty of habitability, the warranty would have been waived in the application of the "as-is" clause within the lease; (5.) holding that the constructive eviction did not occur; (6.) awarding attorneys' fees and costs based upon the procedurally improper entry of the order granting summary judgment without allowing Appellants to present facts and evidence of the constructive eviction and/or in opposition to the constructive eviction claim. The district court also erred and when it abused its discretion by basing the decisions on clearly erroneous factual determinations and by disregarding controlling law.

STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

"This [C]ourt reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo."⁴¹ Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings and other evidence on file, viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party, demonstrates that no genuine issue

⁴¹ See Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (Nev. 2005).

of material fact remains in dispute and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* Conclusory statements fail to create issues of fact.⁴² Thus, there are two basic substantive requirements for a district court to grant summary judgment are: (1) there must be no genuine issue as to any material fact; and (2) the moving party must be entitled to judgment as a matter of law.⁴³

When reviewing a motion for summary judgment, the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from the evidence must be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party.⁴⁴ The burden on the nonmoving party to set forth specific facts, by affidavit or otherwise, demonstrating the existence of a genuine issue for trial only applies if the moving party has properly supported its motion for summary judgment as required by NRCP 56.⁴⁵

I.

ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Erred in Holding That The Appellants Had Failed To

Raise An Issue In Their Affirmative Defenses.

⁴² See Yeager v. Harrah's Club, Inc., 111 Nev. 830, 833, 897 P.2d 1093, 1094-95 (1995).

⁴³ See Allstate Ins. Co. v. Fackett, 125 Nev. 132, 137, 206 P.3d 572, 575 (Nev. 2009); see also ASAP Storage, Inc. v. City of Sparks, 123 Nev. 639, 644, 173 P.3d 734, 738 (Nev. 2007).

⁴⁴ See Allstate, 125 Nev. at 137, 206 P.3d at 575; Wood, 121 Nev. at 729, 121 P.3d at 1029.

⁴⁵ See Wood, 121 Nev. at 731-32, 121 P.3d at 1031.

It is unclear as to what the district court was adjudicating in its ruling upon the motions for summary judgment and then the motion for entry of judgment, if not its agreement that the orders on the motions for summary judgment did not include a final adjudication. Thus, when the district court granted the motion for entry of judgment, and Appellants in their opposition to the Motion for Entry asserted their right to present evidence and testimony on the Respondents failure to mitigate their damages.

Following a bench trial, this Court will not overturn the district court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous or not supported by substantial evidence.⁴⁶ *Yount* is a case where this court discussed implied consent adjudication of counterclaims pursuant to NRCP 15(b). This Court then went a step further and found the following:

"NRCP 8(c) addresses affirmative defenses and allows the court to treat an affirmative defense as a counterclaim if the party "mistakenly designated" the counterclaim as an affirmative defense. In addressing FRCP 8(c), the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit explained that:

'affirmative defenses made in response to a pleading are not themselves claims for relief. True, [FRCP] 8(c)(2) provides a potential mechanism for extending jurisdiction to an improperly pled claim But several of our sister circuits have held that a request for relief that amounts to no more than denial of the plaintiffs demand is properly considered an

⁴⁶ *Yount* at 171.

answer, not a separate claim for affirmative relief that expands the court's jurisdiction." 47

Appellants are not trying to argue that there is some sort of trial by consent as this was an adjudication at summary judgment. However, the argument is analogous to the rationale asserted in *Yount*, what it clearly does state is that affirmative defenses are viable to present a defense to damages. *Yount* is case where the district court, sua sponte, awarded damages, and this Court reversed the district court's finding of damages for the "untried counterclaim." Appellants argue here that the inverse must certainly be true. Appellants asked for the opportunity to assert their affirmative defenses at the bench trial and were denied that right. The Affirmative Defenses had not been adjudicated by the Court, or at the very least the request to prove the basis of its affirmative defense at an evidentiary hearing should have been afforded the Appellants.

B. The District Court Erred in Adjudicating The Respondent's Motion For Entry Of Judgment Without Allowing The Appellants To Present Its Testimony And Evidence Of The Affirmative Defenses

⁴⁷ Yount at 174-175; citing to Akiachak Native Cmty. v. U.S. Dep't of Interior, 827 F.3d 100, 107 (D.C. Cir. 2016) (internal quotation marks and alterations omitted). ⁴⁸ Yount at 421.

The Appellants disputed the basis for the damages as awarded by the Court in its Opposition to the Motion for Entry of Judgment. The proceeding Motion for Summary Judgment on Breach of Contract did not request a dollar figure judgment. ⁴⁹ Appellants had asserted the failure to mitigate in its Answer and Counterclaim as well as the Opposition to the Motion for Entry of Judgment. More importantly, the bench trial that was then still set would have allowed the Appellants to present the evidence, testimony and conduct cross examination of those witnesses identified to call into question the purported lost rents. Specifically, the bench trial would allow the Respondents to attack the failure to re-lease the Subject Property.

In support of these arguments that there was a significant question as to the adjudication of the affirmative defense is the procedural fact that the Respondent filed two consecutive Motions for Summary Judgment, and then filed a Motion for Entry of Judgment. The assertion by the Appellants that there should have been evidence and testimony to controvert the lost rents should have been allowed at the time of the then set bench trial. The Respondents have the burden to prove their damages and the reasonableness of their damages.⁵⁰ The affirmative defense of

⁴⁹ See Appendix Vol. VI, AI000371-AI000426.

⁵⁰ "As a general rule, a party cannot recover damages for loss that he could have avoided by reasonable efforts. *See First Nat. Bank v. Milford*, 239 Kan. 151, 718 P.2d 1291, 1297 (1986).

The rule of mitigation of damages begins when the breach is discovered. *See Holland v. Green Mountain Swim Club Inc.*, 470 P.2d 61, 63 (Colo.App.1970)." *Conner v. Southern Nevada Paving*, 103 Nev. 353, 355 (1987).

mitigation places the burden on the breaching party to prove it.⁵¹ Mitigation of damages can be proven by simple cross examination.⁵² Moreover, the previous Orders on the Motions for Summary Judgment for Breach of Contract and Counterclaims did not address or adjudicate the affirmative defenses.

In the instant case before this Court, there were expressly stated and asserted counterclaims and affirmative defenses. This is not an instance of implied consent or other claims pursuant to NRCP 15(b). Those were not limited to the constructive eviction or warranty of habitability. They included equitable affirmative defenses and the failure to mitigate the damages.⁵³ There is no order before this Court or having been issued by the district court adjudicating the affirmative defenses asserted in Appellants answer.⁵⁴

Strikingly, following a bench trial, this Court "will not overturn the district court's findings of fact 'unless they are clearly erroneous or not supported by

⁵¹ "However, the burden of proving failure to mitigate is on the breaching party. *Cobb v. Osman*, 83 Nev. 415, 422, 433 P.2d 259, 263 (1967)." *Conner* at 355-6.

⁵² "A cross-examination is about the only test, certainly the most efficacious one, which the law has yet devised to discover the truth. To deprive a party of this right is such irregularity and error as to prevent the party from having a fair and impartial trial, and is sufficient to reverse the case. 1 Green l.Ev., §446; 10 Mich. 460; 14 Cal. 23; 29 Ind. 456; 37 New York, 143; 47 Maine, 470; 8 Black, 556; 29 Ind. 293; 33 Cal. 647; 8 Gray, 172." *Ferguson v. Rutherford*, 7 Nev. 385, 386 (1872).

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