IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BOUR ENTERPRISES, LLC, a Nevada
limited liability company; MULUGETA
BOUR, an individual; and HILENA
MENGESHA, an individual,

Appellants,

vs.

4520 ARVILLE, a California general
partnership; MCKINLEY MANOR, an
Idaho general partnership,

Respondents.

Case No.: 83099

(Consolidated with Case No. 82699)

District Court No.: A-19-794864-C

Electronically Filed
Nov 18, 2021 04:30 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court,
The Honorable Veronica Barisich Presiding
(preceded by the Honorable Trevor Atkin and the Honorable Michael Cherry)

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

F. THOMAS EDWARDS, ESQ.

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

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court did not err when it granted summary judgment in favor of Landlords and entered Judgment in accordance therewith. Landlords filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on their breach of contract claims related to Defendants’ failure to pay rent and unauthorized abandonment of Tenant’s commercial Leases of Landlords’ warehouse space. Landlords’ Motion for Summary Judgment set forth sufficient evidence and authority to support each and every element of their claims, including the element of damages. Thus, the burden shifted to Defendants to set forth evidence creating a genuine dispute of material fact as to Landlords’ prima facie case or in support of one of Defendants’ affirmative defenses, such that they could overcome summary judgment and proceed to a bench trial.

However, Defendants failed to do so. Defendants’ Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment set forth *no* evidence to counter the essential elements of Landlords’ breach of contract claims, and instead relied *solely* on their affirmative defense for constructive eviction, which was based on Landlords’ alleged breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. Defendants did not mention

any other affirmative defenses in their Opposition, and therefore waived any such arguments on appeal.

In their Reply in support of the Motion for Summary Judgment, Landlords cited a plethora of authority demonstrating that the implied warranty of habitability does not apply to commercial leases in Nevada, and thus could not excuse Defendants' breaches of the Leases and Guaranties as a matter of law. Defendants set forth no countervailing authority in the briefing or at oral argument, and therefore the District Court granted summary judgment in favor of Landlords.

After some additional motion practice (made necessary by Defendants' unfounded objection to having Judgment entered against them), the District Court entered final Judgment in favor of Landlords, pursuant to the Order Granting Summary Judgment. The District Court thereafter granted Landlords an award of fees and costs pursuant to a prevailing party fee provision contained in the Leases.

On appeal, Defendants argue that they should have been allowed to proceed to a bench trial on two affirmative defenses: (1) mitigation of damages—which Defendants entirely failed to raise at summary judgment, and (2) constructive eviction based on the implied warranty of habitability, which Defendants argue *does* apply to commercial leases in Nevada.

First, by failing to assert their mitigation of damages defense at summary judgment, Defendants waived any such argument under Nevada law. Therefore,

Defendants are not entitled to raise this argument on appeal. And, contrary to Defendants' assertions, Landlords' Motion for Summary Judgment did set forth evidence demonstrating the precise damages owed by Defendants, and cited to that evidence accordingly. Second, the overwhelming weight of authority—both authoritative and persuasive—holds that the implied warranty of habitability does not apply to commercial leases in Nevada. Therefore, because Defendants' constructive eviction affirmative defense is based solely on the implied warranty of habitability, the constructive eviction defense fails as a matter of law.

However, even if the implied warranty of habitability did apply to commercial leases in Nevada (it does not), Tenant accepted the Premises in an “as-is” condition under the Leases, thereby waiving any implied warranties, to the extent they apply. As such, Defendants have not properly set forth or supported any defense to their clear breaches of the Leases and personal Guaranties, and the District Court did not err in entering Judgment in Landlords' favor.

Further, because Landlords were the prevailing party to the District Court action, the District Court also did not err in granting Landlords' an award of their reasonable fees and costs, pursuant to the Prevailing Party Provision contained in the Leases. Because the District Court committed no legal error, this Court must affirm the District Court's Judgment and subsequent Fee Award.

///

VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Orders granting summary judgment are reviewed de novo. *See Tore, Ltd. v. Church*, 105 Nev. 183, 185, 772 P.2d 1281, 1282 (1989). “[T]he question on appeal is whether any genuine issues of fact were created by the pleadings and proof offered below.” *Id.* (citing *McPherron v. McAuliffe*, 97 Nev. 78, 79, 624 P.2d 21, 21 (1981)). In *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005), this Court abrogated the “slightest doubt” standard and adopted the aforementioned standard as employed by the United States Supreme Court in *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317 (1986), *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242 (1986), and *Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio*, 475 U.S. 574 (1986).

The non-moving party cannot “simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt” as to the operative facts in order to avoid summary judgment in the moving party’s favor. *Wood*, 121 Nev. at 732, 121 P.3d at 1031 (quoting *Matsushita*, 475 U.S. at 586). The non-moving party “must, by affidavit or otherwise, set forth specific facts demonstrating the existence of a genuine issue for trial or have summary judgment entered against him.” *Id.* (quoting *Bulbman, Inc. v. Nevada Bell*, 109 Nev. 105, 110, 825 P.2d 588, 591 (1992)). The non-moving party is “not entitled to build a case on the gossamer threads of whimsy, speculation, and

conjecture.” *Wood*, 121, Nev. at 730–31, 121 P.3d at 1030 (*quoting Collins v. Union Fed. Sav. & Loan*, 99 Nev. 284, 302, 662 P.2d 610, 621 (1983)).

B. ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND COSTS

“The decision to award attorney fees is within the sound discretion of the district court and will not be overturned absent a manifest abuse of discretion.” *Kahn v. Morse & Mowbray*, 121 Nev. 464, 479, 117 P.3d 227, 238 (2005). However, when a party’s eligibility for attorneys’ fees raises a question of statutory interpretation or construction of a contractual fee provision, this Court reviews such issues de novo. *In re Estate & Living Tr. of Miller*, 125 Nev. 550, 552–53, 216 P.3d 239, 241 (2009); *Davis v. Beling*, 128 Nev. 301, 321, 278 P.3d 501, 515 (2012).

VIII. ARGUMENT

The crux of Defendants’ argument on appeal is Defendants’ misguided belief that they were entitled to proceed to bench trial to present testimony regarding two affirmative defenses (implied warranty of habitability and failure to mitigate damages) alleged in Defendants’ Answer and Counterclaim, despite having entirely failed to satisfy their burden to present evidence or authority supporting their affirmative defenses at summary judgment. As Landlords will demonstrate herein, Defendants’ affirmative defenses were either waived for their

failure to raise them at summary judgment (*e.g.*, the “mitigation of damages” defense), or failed as a matter of law (*e.g.*, the “constructive eviction” defense). Accordingly, the District Court’s Judgment and subsequent Fee Award in Landlords’ favor was proper.

A. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF LANDLORDS

In their Motion for Summary Judgment, Landlords attached and cited sufficient evidence demonstrating all the elements of their claims for breach of lease and breach of guaranty, *i.e.*, “proof of a valid contract, performance or excuse of performance by the non-breaching party, breach by the defendant, and damages.” *Hosp. Int’l Grp. v. Gratitude Grp., LLC*, 132 Nev. 980, 387 P.3d 208 (Nev. 2016) (internal citations omitted) (unpublished). [SUPP 1-112]. The District Court’s Order Granting Summary Judgment explicitly cites the evidence supporting each of the foregoing elements:

- a. The Leases and Guaranties are valid, fully executed contracts. *See* Motion Ex. 2 (Unit C-23/24 Lease, Addendum and Guaranty); Motion Ex. 3 (Unit C-10/29 Lease, Addendum and Guaranty).
- b. Plaintiffs fully performed under the terms of the Leases and Guaranties. *See* Motion Ex. 4 (Declaration of Kevin Donahoe) (affirming that Defendants utilized the Premises pursuant to the Leases until May 8, 2018, when they vacated the Premises).
- c. Defendants breached the Leases and Guaranties by abandoning the Premises early, without authorization, and ***failing to pay all monthly rent payments due under the Leases***. *Id.* *See also* Motion Exs. 2 at ARV000015–16 and 3 at ARV000048–49

(Sections 13.6 and 23.1 of the Leases); *Motion Exs. 5 and 6 (ledgers reflecting all outstanding balances owed under the Leases)*.

- d. *Plaintiffs incurred damages as a result of Defendants' non-payment of rent due and owing under the Leases and personal Guaranties. Id.*

[VIII AI 530-31] (citing the evidence attached to and cited in Landlords' Motion for Summary Judgment).

It is a fundamental maxim that, “[w]hen a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as required by NRCP 56, the non-moving party may not rest upon general allegations and conclusions, but *must*, by affidavit or otherwise, set forth specific facts demonstrating the existence of a genuine factual issue.” *Wood*, 121 Nev. at 731, 121 P.3d at 1030–31 (internal quotations omitted) (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

The gist of a summary judgment motion is to require the adverse party to show that it has a claim or defense, *and has evidence sufficient to allow a jury to find in its favor on that claim or defense*. The opposition sets it out, and then the *movant has a fair chance in its reply papers to show why the respondent's evidence fails to establish a genuine issue of material fact*.

Schuck v. Signature Flight Support of Nevada, Inc., 126 Nev. 434, 439, 245 P.3d 542, 545 (2010) (citing *Carmen v. San Francisco Unified School Dist.*, 237 F.3d 1026, 1031 (9th Cir. 2001)) (emphasis added).

///

///

**1. Defendants Failed to Raise Their “Mitigation of Damages”
Affirmative Defense at Summary Judgment, and Thus
Waived That Argument on Appeal**

This Court has adopted the general rule that a point not raised at summary judgment “is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered . . .” *Schuck*, 126 Nev. at 436, 245 P.3d at 544 (2010) (internal quotations omitted) (citing *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981)). This rule:

is not meant to be harsh, overly formalistic, or to punish careless litigators. Rather, the requirement that parties may raise on appeal only issues which have been presented to the district court maintains the efficiency, fairness, and integrity of the judicial system for all parties.

Id. at 437 (citing *Boyers v. Texaco Refining and Marketing, Inc.*, 848 F.2d 809, 812 (7th Cir.1988)).

Critically, Defendants’ Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment is *entirely* silent regarding the “mitigation of damages” affirmative defense. [VII AI 483-509]. Defendants readily admit the same in their email to the District Court. [SUPP 54]. Defendants also confirm the same in their Opening Brief. *See* Opening Brief at 15 (“Appellants had asserted the failure to mitigate in its Answer and Counterclaim as well as the Opposition to the *Motion for Entry of Judgment.*”) (emphasis added).

Defendants cannot expect to proceed to bench trial to litigate a “mitigation of damages” affirmative defense that they failed to raise at summary judgment.

Schuck, 126 Nev. at 436, 245 P.3d at 544 (points not raised at summary judgment are waived); *Conner v. S. Nevada Paving, Inc.*, 103 Nev. 353, 355, 741 P.2d 800, 801 (1987) (“the burden of proving failure to mitigate is on the breaching party”) (citing *Cobb v. Osman*, 83 Nev. 415, 422, 433 P.2d 259, 263 (1967)). Critically, Defendants’ undeveloped citations to *Yount v. Criswell Radovan, LLC*, 136 Nev. 167 (2020) and *Complete Care Medical Center v. Beckstead*, 484 P.3d 950, 2021 WL 1345693 (Nev. 2021) (unpublished)—which Defendants submitted without any meaningful context or analysis—does not save Defendants from the reality that if they wanted to assert a “mitigation of damages” defense, Defendants were obligated to raise that issue at summary judgment. *See* Opening Brief at 13, 17. Because they failed to do so, Defendants have waived that argument.

Moreover, it is not enough that Defendants untimely raised the mitigation of damages issue in their opposition to the Motion for Entry of Judgment. *See* Opening Brief at 15. The Motion for Entry of Judgment was not an extension of the summary judgment proceedings, or a second bite at the apple for Defendants to assert new legal theories in opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment. Rather, the Motion for Entry of Judgment was a procedural anomaly, made necessary by Defendants’ unfounded objection to having Judgment entered against them pursuant to the District Court’s Order Granting Summary Judgment. *See* [VIII AI 548-69].

Finally, contrary to Defendants’ assertions, the Motion for Summary Judgment and the evidence attached and cited therein *does* support the District Court’s precise dollar figure Judgment. *See* Opening Brief at 15. As explained in the Motion for Entry of Judgment, the Leases (attached as Exhibits 2 and 3 to the Motion for Summary Judgment) set forth the term of the lease, the base rent, and other monthly charges, late fees, and applicable interest. [VIII AI 553]; [SUPP 41-101]. The Guaranties (attached to the Leases) confirm that M. Bour and H. Mengesha were jointly and severally liable for any unpaid rents. [VIII AI 553]; [SUPP 69, 100]. The Tenant Ledgers (attached as Exhibits 5 and 6 to the Motion for Summary Judgment) provided a detailed computation of all outstanding rents due and owing under the Leases. [VIII AI 553]; [SUPP 105-12]. The Tenant Ledgers were authenticated in the Declaration of Kevin Donahoe (attached as Exhibit 4 to the Motion for Summary Judgment). [SUPP 102-04].

Thus, Defendants’ argument on appeal that Landlords did not request a “dollar figure judgment” at summary judgment is incorrect. Opening Brief at 15. Indeed, the District Court could not have granted summary judgment in favor of Landlords *unless* they had set forth adequate evidence of their damages, as damages is an essential element of any breach of contract claim. *Hosp. Int’l Grp.*, 132 Nev. 980, 387 P.3d 208. In light of the foregoing, Defendants waived their “mitigation of damages” affirmative defense at summary judgment, and thus they

cannot prevail on this argument on appeal.

2. The Implied Warranty of Habitability Does Not Apply to Commercial Leases in Nevada

Next, Defendants argue that the District Court erred in holding that their “constructive eviction” (based on an alleged breach of the implied warranty of habitability) does not apply to commercial leases in Nevada, and submit that they should have been allowed to proceed to a bench trial to litigate this issue. *See* Opening Brief at 18-23. However, as Justice Cherry recognized at the Motion for Summary Judgment hearing:

Nevada law does not recognize implied warranty of habitability in a commercial lease setting unlike a residential lease setting. [Landlords] cite a plethora of persuasive authority from other states recognizing the same. Defendants cite none.

[XI AI 979-80].

Indeed, the Nevada landlord/tenant statutes (NRS 118A and 118C), Nevada case law, and persuasive case law from all across the country supports Landlords’ position that the implied warranty of habitability does *not* apply to commercial leases in Nevada. First, NRS 118A, relating to *residential* leases, expressly states that “[t]he landlord shall at all times during the tenancy maintain the dwelling unit in a habitable condition.” NRS 118A.290. *See also* [SUPP 10]. On the other hand, NRS 118C, relating to *commercial* leases, makes no mention of habitability or fitness for a particular purpose. *See* NRS 118C *et. seq.*; [SUPP 10].

This Court “previously recognized the fundamental rule of statutory construction that the mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another.” *In re Estate of Prestie*, 122 Nev. 807, 814, 138 P.3d 520, 524 (2006) (internal alterations and quotation marks omitted). *See also* [SUPP 10]. “Therefore, where the Legislature has, for example, explicitly applied a rule to one type of proceeding, this court will presume it deliberately excluded the rule’s application to other types of proceedings. *Sonia F. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 125 Nev. 495, 499, 215 P.3d 705, 708 (2009). *See also* [SUPP 10]. “Where a statute is clear on its face, a court may not go beyond the language of the statute in determining the [L]egislature’s intent.” *V & S Ry. LLC v. White Pine County*, 125 Nev. 233, 239, 211 P.3d 879, 882 (2009) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

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